# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-13-2017

## Kirby v. Scotton Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44925

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

This is a dispute over flood irrigation use and drainage between neighboring landowners ("Kirbys" and "Scottons") living in rural Ada County. The gravamen of the dispute is whether Scottons have wrongfully allowed their flood irrigation runoff to escape their property and enter Kirbys' property and, if so, whether such facts are actionable in damages or give rise to equitable relief.

#### B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition

Kirbys' Complaint against Scottons alleges causes of action for trespass, nuisance, negligence, and injunctive relief. The matter has not been decided on the merits but was disposed of by entry of default. After the trial court denied Scottons' motion to set aside the order of default and struck their Answer, a default judgment was entered. It is from these adverse orders and judgment which the Scottons appeal.

#### C. Statement of Facts

Counsel for Kirbys first contacted counsel for Scottons regarding this irrigation dispute in May 2016, before the Complaint was filed. R. Vol. I, p. 82. By letter dated May 26, 2016 to Kirbys' counsel, Scottons advised Kirbys that they were represented by counsel, they disputed Kirbys' claims, they also had claims against Kirbys and they believed the matter could be resolved without litigation. *Id.* at pp. 34, 38-39.

On July 13, 2016, counsel for Kirbys and Scottons spoke on the telephone. Id. at p. 34,  $\P$  3. Scottons' counsel informed Kirbys' attorney that Scottons had taken affirmative steps to resolve Kirbys' concerns and believed the matter was concluded. Id. Kirbys' attorney replied that Summons

and Complaint had already been filed, that she was about to leave on vacation but would visit with Kirbys upon her return (to see if the matter had been resolved), would get back to counsel for Scottons with Kirbys' response, would not require an answer at that time, and would not take further action in the litigation without giving Scottons' counsel notice. *Id.* at p. 34, ¶¶ 3-5; p. 57. Copies of Summons and Complaint, along with an acceptance of service, were sent to Scottons' counsel on July 14, 2016. *Id.* at p. 82.

Counsel for Kirbys did not contact counsel for Scottons upon her return from vacation. Instead, she had Scottons personally served with Summons and Complaint on or about August 31, 2016. *Id.* at p. 54. Counsel for Scottons was unaware of that service and had no knowledge that the case had proceeded until after Kirbys applied for an order of default and Kirbys filed and served Scottons with an Application for Default Judgment on or about October 24, 2016. *Id.* at p. 34, ¶ 4.

Counsel for Scottons contacted Kirbys' attorney on October 27, 2016 to inquire why she had not acted as promised but had instead taken default. *Id.* at p. 34 ¶5; p. 57. Kirbys' attorney acknowledged her error and by e-mail that same morning, told the Court to "withdraw our Motion for Entry of Default" against Scottons and that if an Answer were not filed in the near future, Kirbys would "refile their Motion for Default." *Id.* at p. 41.

Again, however, Scottons' attorney did not do as promised. She did not contact Scottons' attorney with an update or response from Kirbys, she did not give notice of intent to take default, and she did not re-file a motion for default or default judgment. Instead, on November 4, 2017 Kirbys' attorney e-mailed the court clerk ex-parte and asked that the Court "move forward on the default judgment." *Id.* at p. 60. The court then entered default on or about November 17, 2016 and set the matter for hearing on damages. Scottons filed an answer on December 1, 2016. In addition to

denying most of the material facts in Kirbys' Complaint, the Answer contains eight separate affirmative defenses, including estoppel, waiver, failure to mitigate damages, release, unclean hands, and a right of offset resulting from Kirbys' "wrongful conduct, including trespass, nuisance, and intentional infliction of emotional distress, caused by [Kirbys'] discharging their firearms in the direction of [Scottons'] home." *Id.* at pp. 21-29.

On or about December 6, 2016, Scottons filed a motion to set aside the default. By order dated February 1, 2017, the trial court denied Scottons' motion, on grounds Scottons did not show "good cause for failing to appear" and did not plead "particularly a meritorious defense." The court then struck Scottons' Answer and subsequently entered a default judgment in favor of Kirbys for the amount of \$11,230.73. It is from that order and judgment which Scottons appeal.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the district court err in denying Scottons' Motion To Set Aside Default without considering whether the default was willful?
- 2. Did the district court err in denying Scottons' Motion To Set Aside Default without considering whether setting aside the default would cause substantial prejudice to Kirbys and instead ruled solely on the basis of delay?
- 3. Did the district court err in concluding that Scottons did not present a meritorious defense when they filed an Answer which enumerated eight separate affirmative defenses and when the district court later declined to award most of the damages sought by Kirbys?

#### **ARGUMENT**

The District Court Committed Reversible Error By Failing To Consider Factors And Apply Standards Established By Idaho Appellate Courts.

I.R.C.P. 55(c) governs setting aside the entry of default. Idaho Courts have adopted the standards set by federal courts in interpreting Fed.R.Civ.P. 55. *E.g.*, *McFarland v. Curtis*, 123 Idaho

931, 936, 854 P.2d 274, 279 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing Traguth v. Zuck, 710 F.2d 90 (2d Cir.1983)). The decision of a trial court to grant or deny relief under Rule 55(c) is discretionary. AgStar Fin. Servs., ACA v. Gordon Paving Co., Inc., 161 Idaho 817, 819, 391 P.3d 1287, 1289 (2017), reh'g denied (Apr. 14, 2017) (citing McGloon v. Gwynn, 140 Idaho 727, 729, 100 P.3d 621, 623 (2004)). See also Keegel v. Key West & Caribbean Trading Co., 627 F.2d 372, 373 (D.C.Cir.1980). While such decisions are reviewed for abuse of discretion, "[a]n abuse of discretion need not be glaring to justify reversal." Id. at 373–74. Indeed, only "slight abuse of discretion in refusing to set aside a default judgment is sufficient to justify a reversal of the order." Bridoux v. E. Air Lines, 214 F.2d 207, 210 (D.C. Cir. 1954) cert. denied, 348 U.S. 821, 75 S.Ct. 33, 99 L.Ed. 647 (1954) (quoting Madson v. Petrie Tractor & Equipment Co., 77 P.2d 1038, 1040 (Mont. 1938). This narrow scope of discretion stems from "strong policies favoring the resolution of genuine disputes on their merits." Traguth v. Zuck, 710 F.2d at 94 (quoting Jackson v. Beech, 636 F.2d 831, 835 (D.C.Cir.1980). See also Jonsson v. Oxborrow, 141 Idaho 635, 638, 115 P.3d 726, 729 (2005)).

To exercise its discretion properly, the trial court "makes factual findings that are not clearly erroneous, applies correct criteria pursuant to the applicable legal standards to those facts, and makes a logical conclusion, while keeping in mind the policy favoring relief in doubtful cases and resolution on the merits . . . ." *Dorion v. Keane*, 153 Idaho 371, 373–74, 283 P.3d 118, 120–21 (Ct. App. 2012) (holding that the district court abused its discretion by not "giving full regard to the . . . factors [enumerated by Idaho appellate courts] and the general policy favoring a decision on the merits").

The standard for setting aside a default is found in I.R.C.P. 55(c): "The court may set aside an entry of default for good cause . . . ." This "good cause" showing under Rule 55(c) is "lower or

more lenient than that required to set aside a default judgment" under Rule 60(b). *McFarland v. Curtis*, 123 Idaho 931, 936, 854 P.2d 274, 279 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing 10 Wright, Miller & Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 2d §§ 2681–2702 (1983)). Idaho courts have adopted the standard set by federal courts when interpreting Fed. R. Civ. P. 55. *E.g., McFarland v. Curtis*, 123 Idaho at 936, 854 P.2d at 279 (Ct. App. 1993) (*citing Traguth v. Zuck*, 710 F.2d 90 (2d Cir.1983)).

Under that standard, the trial court is to consider the following factors: "whether the default was willful, whether setting aside the default would prejudice the opponent, and whether a meritorious defense has been presented." *Id. See also Dorion v. Keane*, 153 Idaho at 374, 283 P.3d at 121. It is reversible error for the trial court to consider and apply the Rule 55(c) standard for setting aside the entry of a default. *Meehan v. Snow*, 652 F.2d 274, 276 (2d Cir. 1981).

Another factor which can be considered is the adequacy or lack of notice to the defendant. *E.g., Johnson v. State*, 112 Idaho 1112, 739 P.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987) (affirming a district court's denial of an application for default where there is a question over the adequacy of notice and "the net result" of the parties' communication — or lack thereof — "was confusion over the pendency of th[e] proceedings").

## 1. Scottons are not guilty of a willful default and the trial court erred in not considering that factor.

In the context of Rule 55, a willful default is one that is "more than merely negligent or careless." *SEC v. McNulty*, 137 F.3d 732, 738 (2d Cir.1998). Where a defendant completely ignores a complaint without any action, a default is deemed willful. *E.g.*, *United Bank of Kuwait PLC v. Enventure Energy Enhanced Oil Recovery Assocs.—Charco Redondo Butane*, 755 F.Supp. 1195, 1205 (S. D.N.Y.1989). However, "mere tardiness in meeting a court deadline does not establish a

willful default." *Gov't Emps. Ins. Co. v. Right Solution Med. Supply, Inc.*, No. 12 Civ 0908, 2012 WL 6617422, at \*3 (E.D.N.Y. Dec. 19, 2012).

A party's default is not willful where he obtains counsel and moves to set aside a default shortly after default is entered without his knowledge. *E.g.*, *AIP Asset Mgmt. Inc. v. Ascension Tech. Grp. Ltd.*, No. 16 CIV. 9181 (LLS), 2017 WL 448963, at \*1 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 19, 2017) (where Defendants moved to set aside default a week or so after it was entered, "It is hard to see how defendants' conduct demonstrates such willful conduct or prejudice to the plaintiff that its motion to set aside the Clerk's Certificate of Default should be denied"). A party's default is not willful where "there is no basis to believe that he was deliberately avoiding appearing before the Court." *Moreno-Godoy v. Gallet Dreyer & Berkey, LLP*, No. 14 CIV. 7082 PAE, 2015 WL 5737565, at \*9 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2015).

Here, the Scottons' default was not willful. They obtained counsel to represent them in this action and their counsel contacted Kirby's attorney on multiple occasions, both before and after the Complaint was filed, in an attempt to resolve the matter. Scottons waited for responses from Kirbys' attorney which never came. They filed an answer shortly after they became aware that default had been entered. The default was due to miscommunication between counsel, not a deliberate attempt to avoid appearing in court. Given the conflicting affidavits of counsel in the record, there is at least a question of fact on this issue, which question must be resolved in Scottons' favor. *E.g.*, *Haywood v. City of New York*, No. 12 CIV. 6566 PAC KNF, 2014 WL 241078, at \*2 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 21, 2014) ("Even if there were a doubt, any such doubt is to be resolved in Defendant's favor") (citing *Traguth v. Zuck*).

The trial court did not consider willfulness in denying Scottons' motion. Rather, it ruled that

Scottons' mere tardiness created a lack of good cause to set aside the default. Because the trial court did not consider the issue of willfulness, because its decision was based upon the tardiness of Scottons' Answer, and because the trial court did not resolve questions of fact in Scottons' favor, it abused its discretion and committed reversible error in denying Scottons' motion.

2. Kirbys would not be prejudiced by setting aside the default. The trial court erred in not factoring the issue of prejudice into its decision.

In the context of Rule 55, prejudice refers to delay that will "result in the loss of evidence, create increased difficulties of discovery, or provide greater opportunity for fraud and collusion." 10 C. Wright, A. Miller and M. Kane, *Federal Practice and Procedure Civil*, § 2693 at 477–93 (1983)). Although some delay is inevitable when granting a motion to vacate a default, "delay alone is not a sufficient basis for establishing prejudice." *New York v. Green*, 420 F.3d 99, 110 (2d Cir.2005). See also *Dorion v. Keane*, in which the Supreme Court of Idaho held that mere delay does not constitute prejudice and suggested the burden of showing prejudice rests with the nonmoving party:

**Dorion** has not articulated any harm beyond the ordinary expenses of continued litigation. As explained by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals:

It should be obvious why merely being forced to litigate on the merits cannot be considered prejudicial for purposes of lifting a default judgment. For had there been no default, the plaintiff would of course have had to litigate the merits of the case, incurring the costs of doing so. A default judgment gives the plaintiff something of a windfall by sparing her from litigating the merits of her claim because of her opponent's failure to respond; vacating the default judgment merely restores the parties to an even footing in the litigation.

The Keanes filed a motion to set aside the entry of default

approximately one week after default was entered. *Dorion* has not demonstrated any prejudice caused by this short delay.

153 Idaho at 375, 283 P.3d at 122 (citing *TCI Group Life Ins. Plan v. Knoebber*, 244 F.3d 691, 701 (9th Cir.2001) (emphasis supplied).

Here, the trial court did not consider the issue of prejudice and Kirbys did not demonstrate any harm caused by a short delay in the filing of Scottons' answer. As in *Dorion v. Keane*, the trial court here committed reversible error by failing to consider this factor in denying Scottons' motion.

## 3. Scottons pleaded meritorious defenses. The trial court committed reversible error in not considering them.

The meritorious defense requirement is a pleading requirement, not a burden of proof. *E.g.*, *Reinwald v. Eveland*, 119 Idaho 111, 114, 803 P.2d 1017, 1020 (Ct.App.1991) (rejecting an argument that defendant failed to tender a meritorious defense when the defendant's "answer to the complaint already was on file, it contained her defenses and it had not been stricken."). Accordingly, a party moving to set aside a default judgment is not required to present evidence in order to have the default (or a default judgment) set aside. *Cuevas v. Barraza*, 146 Idaho 511, 518, 198 P.3d 740, 747 (Ct.App.2008). Where the defaulted party presents "plausible defenses, which, if established, would have entitled them to various forms of relief," they are sufficient to the meritorious defense requirement. *Dorion v. Keane*, 153 Idaho at 374–75, 283 P.3d at 121–22.

Indeed, it is not even necessary that the defaulting party file an Answer before default is set aside. *See, e.g., AIP Asset Mgmt. Inc. v. Ascension Tech. Grp. Ltd.*, 2017 WL 448963, at \*1 (allowing the defendants thirty days from the date of the order setting aside default to answer or otherwise respond to the complaint). In any event, the defendant need only meet a "low threshold" in presenting a meritorious defense. *Holford USA Ltd., Inc. v. Harvey*, 169 F.R.D. 41, 44 (S.D.N.Y.

1996) (where "Defendants deny all material allegations and stand ready to assert several affirmative defenses, they satisfy the low threshold necessary to establish a meritorious defense") (*citing Meehan v. Snow*, 652 F.2d at 276); *Moldwood Corp. v. Stutts*, 410 F.2d 351, 352 (5th Cir. 1969) (noting that the Court of Appeals "would be quickly persuaded to give Stutts relief if . . . he had given the District Court *even a hint of a suggestion* that he had a meritorious defense") (emphasis supplied). *See also Rooks v. Am. Brass Co.*, 263 F.2d 166, 169 (6th Cir. 1959) (reversing an order of default and default judgment):

The answer denies that defendant is indebted to plaintiff in the amount of \$60,000, or in any sum of money whatsoever. The answer includes various affirmative defenses, one of which is that defendant was induced to sign the guaranty by fraudulent representations of plaintiff. If any one of these defenses states a defense good at law, then a meritorious defense was presented in answer.

#### *Id.* (emphasis supplied).

The trial court did not apply the Rule 55(c) standard to Scottons. Instead, it disposed of the Answer in one sentence: "The Answer is more of a general denial and does not plead with particularity and detail the defenses." *Id.* at 2. Respectfully, here again the trial court erred. In addition to denying most of the material averments in the Complaint, Scottons asserted eight affirmative defenses. Scottons asserted, for example, that Kirbys caused their own damages and failed to mitigate. Scottons also asserted a right of offset and pleaded specific facts in support of that right. R. Vol. I, pp. 22-23.

Curiously, the court later denied approximately 80 percent of the damages sought by Kirbys in default judgment affidavit. See R. Vol. I, pp. 52, 70-72. In other words, even without considering Scottons' Answer, it is clear Scottons actually had meritorious defenses to much of the Kirbys'

damage claims. Regardless, Scottons stated defenses in their Answer which are good at law. The

trial court committed reversible error by not applying the correct standard and determining that

Scottons did not present a meritorious defense.

**CONCLUSION** 

The trial court committed reversible by not applying or misapplying the standards established

by Idaho appellate courts and federal courts for setting aside a default under Rule 55(c).

Accordingly, Scottons ask the Court to reverse the district court's entry of default and default

judgment and to remand the case to be litigated on the merits.