Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-11-2017

Kirby v. Scotton Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44925

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court did not Abuse its Discretion in Denying the Scottons' Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default

The District Court acted well within its discretion in denying the Scottons' motion to set aside entry of default and its decision should be affirmed. The District Court reviewed the procedural history of the case, the Scottons' motion to set aside the default and briefs in support and opposition, and all the affidavits, took the matter under advisement, and issued a written

decision denying the motion to set aside the entry of default. That decision stated and applied the correct legal standards. The Scottons have not demonstrated any of the factual findings were clearly erroneous and have failed to meet their burden.

Under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 55(c), "The court may set aside an entry of ... default for good cause, and it may set aside a default judgment under Rule 60(b)." I.R.C.P. 55 (c). One of the requirements of showing good cause is that the party asking the Court to set aside default must also plead facts with particularity, which, if established, would constitute a defense to the action. *Bach v. Miller*, 148 Idaho 549, 224 P.3d 1138 (2010); *Dorion v. Keane*, 153 Idaho 371, 283 P.3d 118 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing *Idaho State Police ex rel. Russell v. Parcel I: Lot 2 in Block 3*, 144 Idaho 60, 63, 156 P.3d 561, 546 (2007)). "Because judgments by default are not favored, a trial court should grant relief in doubtful cases in order to decide the case on the merits." *Jonsson v. Oxborrow*, 141 Idaho 635, 638, 115 P.3d 726, 729 (2005). "[T]he required good cause showing to set aside a default under Rule 55(c) is 'lower or more lenient than that required to set aside a default judgment" under Rule 60(b)."" *Dorion*, 153 Idaho at 375, 283 P.3d at 122 (quoting *McFarland v. Curtis*, 123 Idaho 931, 936, 854 P.2d 274, 279 (Ct. App. 1993)).

The Court of Appeals has also ruled that whether the default was willful or whether setting it aside would be prejudicial to the opposing party are "[o]ther primary considerations" in the good cause analysis. *Dorion*, 153 Idaho at 374, 283 P.3d at 121. "The weight that a court assigns both to the conduct of a party, when that conduct leads to entry of default, and to the prejudice that would result to the opposing party if the default were set aside, is left to the discretion of the trial court." *Id.* at 375, 283 P.3d at 122.

1. The District Court correctly entered default based upon the Scottons' dilatory conduct

The District Court found that the Scottons did not make a showing of "good cause" needed to set aside the entry of default and that Scottons' conduct in failing to respond to the complaint was dilatory. (R. 82). The District Court concluded that the delay "amounted to dilatory conduct for more than three months." (R. 83). The District Court found that the Scottons failed "to accept service through their attorney, file a notice of appearance, motion to extend time to answer, or answer between July 19, 2016 and November 4, 2016." (R. 82). The District Court found that "[t]he Defendants had repeated opportunities to accept service or appear in this litigation over an extended period of time. The delay is beyond just engaging in settlement negotiations and amounts to dilatory conduct for more than three months." (R. 82-83).

These findings are amply supported by the record. The District Court summarized what occurred in its decision:

Defense counsel sent a letter to Plaintiffs' counsel in May 2016. Counsel for the Plaintiffs had a conversation with the attorney believed to be the counsel for the Defendants on July 13, 2016. The Complaint was delivered to that attorney for the Defendants about July 14, 2016 but the acceptance of service was not signed by defense counsel. No answer was filed pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 12 and no notice of general or special appearance was filed under Rule 4.1. While counsel for the plaintiffs and defendants may have engaged in settlement discussions at that time, nothing was ever filed with the court. Then, the Complaint was served on the Scottons on August 31, 2016-well after the time Plaintiff's counsel would have returned from vacation. Still, after formal service no answer was filed pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 12 and no notice of general or special appearance was filed under Rule 4.1. No motion to extend time to answer was filed. The application for default was filed October 24, 2016. On October 27, 2016, counsel for the Defendants admits he was aware of the default application but, still nothing was filed with the court. The court entered default on November 17, 2016. The Defendants then filed an untimely answer on December

1, 2016 and a Motion to Set Aside the Default on December 6, 2016. The Answer is more of a general denial and does not plead with particularity and detail the defenses.

(R. 82).

The record contains substantial evidence of a desire to simply delay the case as long as possible. Over four months elapsed from the time Mr. Hart was provided the complaint with an acceptance of service, (R. 34), to the time he filed an answer on behalf of the Scottons (thirteen days after entry of default). (R. 21). Even after being personally served, the Scottons failed to file a notice of appearance or answer with the Court for over three months. (R. 2-3).

Although the District Court entered default largely because of the Scottons' dilatory conduct, the Scottons argue on appeal that the District Court "did not consider willfulness in denying Scottons' motion." (Appellants' Br. at 6). Instead, according to the Scottons, the District Court "ruled that Scottons' mere tardiness created a lack of good cause to set aside the default." (Appellants' Br. at 6-7).

First, that is a gross mischaracterization of the District Court's *Order Denying Set Aside of Default*. Rather, the Court's *Order* recounted in detail the repeated failure of the Scottons to act diligently in response to the Kirbys' lawsuit. (R. 82-83). Nowhere did the Court hold the problem was one of mere tardiness. The District Court found a pattern of unexcused delay in answering the complaint that amounted to "dilatory conduct." (R. 82-83). That conclusion is indistinguishable from a finding that the failure to answer was willful. The plain meaning of "dilatory" is "designed or tending to cause delay." <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> (10th ed. 2014),

dilatory (giving as an example of how "dilatory" is used in a sentence: "the judge's opinion criticized the lawyer's persistent dilatory tactics").

Second, in support of their argument, the Scottons cite several federal cases that are factually far afield from what occurred in this case. In *Gov't Emps. Ins. Co. v. Right Solution Med. Supply, Inc.*, No. 12 Civ 0908, 2012 WL 6617422, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. Dec. 19, 2012) (unreported), the plaintiff obtained entry of default against one defendant one day after the deadline for an answer, and two days after the deadline for the other defendant. The court understandably held "mere tardiness in meeting a court deadline does not establish a willful default." In *AIP Asset Mgmt. Inc. v. Ascension Tech. Grp. Ltd.*, No. 16 CIV. 9181 (LLS), 2017 WL 448963, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 19, 2017), the plaintiff obtained entry of default within days of an answer being due, after defendants' counsel had filed a notice of appearance *and* had requested an extension of time to respond to the complaint. In *Moreno-Godoy v. Gallet Dreyer & Berkey, LLP*, No. 14 CIV. 7082 PAE, 2015 WL 5737565, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2015) (unreported), the defendant did not answer, but never received any notice of intent to take default, and failed to appear because he believed a co-defendant was representing his interests.

None of these cases have facts that resemble what occurred here. Even after being personally served, the Scottons failed to file a notice of appearance or answer with the Court for over three months. (R. 2-3). There was no rush to the courthouse to obtain a default. The Scottons were served with the default filings, given more time to answer, yet still failed to do so. The facts substantially support the District Court's conclusion that the Defendants had failed to show the requisite "good cause" in failing to timely answer the complaint.

2. The Scottons were provided a weeks' written notice of intent to take default, yet still failed to answer the complaint

Further, the Scottons failed to file an answer or notice of appearance even after being given notice of Kirbys' intent to seek a default. The District Court specifically noted that "On October 27, 2016, counsel for the Defendants admits he was aware of the default application but, still, nothing was filed with the court." (R. 82). Scottons' counsel was specifically given written notice via emails on October 27, 2016 that absent an answer filed by November 4th, default would be sought. (R. 58, 59). The District Court acknowledged this one-week notice when it found that the Defendants had failed to ". . . accept service through their attorney, to file a notice of appearance, motion to extend time to answer, or answer between July 19, 2016 and November 4, 2016." (R. 82). Scottons' counsel does not deny he received the notice. (R. 27). Yet, still no answer or notice of appearance was filed in the time given by Kirbys' counsel, which exceeded the three days required by the Rule. (R. 2-3). In fact, default was not entered for 22 days after the Scottons' counsel was informed in writing he had a week to file an answer. (R. 19).

Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 55(a)(1) states that "if a party has appeared in the action, that party must be served with 3 days' written notice of the application for entry of default before default may be entered." I.R.C.P. 55(a) (1). "[T]he appearance required to trigger the three-day notice requirement has been broadly defined, and is not limited to a formal court appearance." *Meyers v. Hansen*, 148 Idaho 283, 288, 221 P.3d 81, 86 (2009). "A defendant who merely 'indicates an intent to defend against the action' can benefit from the notice requirement. *Id.* (quoting *Catledge v. Transport Tire Co.*, 107 Idaho 602, 606, 691 P.2d 1217, 1221 (1984)). To

constitute an appearance, the "defendant's actions 'must be responsive to plaintiff's formal [c]ourt action,' so it is insufficient to simply be interested in the dispute or to communicate to the plaintiff an unwillingness to comply with the requested relief." *Id.* (quoting *Baez v. S.S. Kresge Co.*, 518 F.2d 349, 350 (5th Cir. 1975) (per curiam) (holding that there has not been an appearance merely because the plaintiff knew the defendant intended to resist the suit); *see also Ellis v. Ellis*, 118 Idaho 468, 472, 797 P.2d 868, 872 (Ct. App.1990) (finding that the defendant had not appeared when he rejected the petitioner's divorce settlement proposal); *Olson v. Kirkham*, 111 Idaho 34, 36, 720 P.2d 217, 219 (Ct. App.1986) (finding that preliminary settlement discussions between the parties were not an appearance).

The Rule does not require any specific form of written notice of intent to seek default. Under the analogous federal rule requiring written notice of an application for default judgment, "notice of an application for the entry of a default judgment need not be in any particular form. The major consideration is that the party is made aware that a default judgment may be entered against him." 10A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2687 (4th ed.). A court is within its discretion to enter default and a default judgment where a party has received at least three days' notice of intent to take default yet failed to answer, and showed no meritorious defense. *See Reeves v. Wisenor*, 102 Idaho 271, 629 P.2d 667 (1981). "The purpose of requiring notice only when the defendant has entered an appearance is to protect plaintiffs in instances 'when the adversary process has been halted because of an essentially unresponsive party.'" *Meyers v. Hansen*, 148 Idaho 283, 288, 221 P.3d 81, 86 (2009) (quoting *Newbold v. Arvidson*, 105 Idaho 663, 665, 672

P.2d 231, 233 (1983), *disapproved of on other grounds by Shelton v. Diamond Intern. Corp.*, 108 Idaho 935, 703 P.2d 699 (1985)).

In *Reeves v. Wisenor*, this Court affirmed a trial court's decision to deny relief from a default judgment where the defendant had retained an attorney and had engaged in settlement discussions with the plaintiff's counsel. 102 Idaho 271, 271, 629 P.2d 667, 678 (1981). Yet, after being provided a week's notice of intent to take default, defendant failed to appear at the default hearing. *Id.* The trial court entered default and default judgment. *Id.* This Court affirmed. *Id.* at 273, 629 P.2d at 669.

Just like the defendant in *Reeves*, the Scottons failed to act diligently when being given notice of an application for default. Even assuming for argument's sake that the Scottons appeared in the action under a broad construction of "appearance," the Scottons had ample notice of the Kirbys' intent to press for a default if their complaint was unanswered. Kirbys' counsel agreed and told Mr. Hart, in writing, that he had until November 4, 2016 to file an answer. (R. 58). It is undisputed that the Scottons' counsel and the Scottons personally knew of the Kirbys' intent to take default well in advance of the District Court's actual entry of default. (R. 27, 58, 59).

It is patently unfair for the Scottons to fail to act diligently in response to the lawsuit but then accuse the Kirbys of sharp dealing in simply trying to move forward with a lawsuit. Further, if Mr. Hart desired to represent the Scottons in this case and make clear the Scottons intended to defend, all he had to do was file a notice of appearance or return the acceptance of service. Now with this appeal, just the issue of default is being litigated some fifteen months after the filing of

the lawsuit. The Scottons had obligations to act diligently and promptly and failed to do so, and despite having full notice of the Kirbys' intent to seek default, failed to comply with the applicable procedural rules.

B. The Kirbys would be Prejudiced if Entry of Default were Set Aside

The Scottons argue the District Court failed to address the issue of prejudice when rendering its decision. The Scottons further assert that the only prejudice at issue here would have been a short delay caused by their untimely filing of their answer.

First, the fact that the District Court did not expressly address the prejudice to the Kirbys is not reversible error. The Scottons do not cite any case, and the Kirbys are not aware of any, where this Court has required trial courts to expressly make a finding of prejudice in ruling on a motion to set aside a default. Rather, the weight assigned to factors such as the defaulted party's conduct or the prejudice to the other party are left to the discretion of the trial court. *See Dorion*, 153 Idaho at 374, 283 P.3d at 121.

Second, this argument could be made in many cases involving defaults. The Scottons ignored their obligations under the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. If a party who has been duly served with a Summons and Complaint fails to act diligently, that party is at risk of default. It cannot try and delay the matter, and then come into court after default and argue there would be no prejudice to simply set aside the default and allow a short time to answer. If that is the standard, there are no teeth to the various procedural rules governing appearing in an action and answering a complaint.

Third, the Scottons rely heavily on *Dorion v. Keane*, 153 Idaho 371, 283 P.3d 118 (Ct. App. 2012) to argue that the District Court erred in not considering the issue of prejudice. *Dorion* is distinguishable. In *Dorion*, the defendants initially appeared and answered the complaint, but after fourteen months their attorney withdrew. 153 Idaho at 373, 283 P.3d at 120. Their new attorney spoke to the plaintiff's attorney on August 30 (after the time had expired for the defendants to appear) and requested additional time for the defendants to decide whether to retain him as their new attorney. *Id.* On September 1, plaintiff moved for default, which the court granted on September 9. *Id.* On September 17, the defendants' attorney filed a notice of appearance and moved to set aside the default on the grounds that it was a result of a miscommunication between the attorneys. *Id.*

There is little resemblance between the facts in *Dorion* and the facts here. Here, the Scottons never appeared or answered prior to the entry of default. The case has not been litigated for fourteen months. There was no confusion caused by the withdrawal of an attorney. There was no ambiguity over whether default was being sought.

Rather, this case is about the willful neglect of obligations imposed by the rules. In *Clear Springs Trout Co. v. Anthony*, the Court upheld a default judgment where the defense counsel, who repeatedly communicated with plaintiff's counsel, had filed a motion to dismiss (rather than answer) and then withdrew the motion. 123 Idaho 141, 142-43, 845 P.2d 559, 560-61 (1992). After three weeks of inaction, plaintiff sent defendant's counsel a notice of intent take default twelve days later. 123 Idaho at 143, 845 P.2d at 561. Defendant failed to appear at the hearing

and the trial court entered default. *Id*. This Court quoted from the trial court's findings below, which stated:

The civil rules do have meaning and it provides a mechanism to advance cases on their merits. However, when one party intentionally neglects the rules then justice demands default actions. The factual circumstances of this case require justice and justice requires the upholding of the default judgment.

123 Idaho at 144, 845 P.2d at 562.

In other words, a party must abide by its obligations under rules or risk a default. The trial court docket would grind to a halt if parties were permitted to delay matters until default is sought and then come to court and argue there would be no prejudice if they are simply now allowed to answer and defend the action. Further, the delay in this case is not inconsequential. The Scottons failed to answer the complaint until 72 days after it was due, far more time than the delay at issue in *Clear Springs*.

C. The District Court Correctly Found that the Scottons Failed to Particularly Plead a Meritorious Defense Needed to Establish "Good Cause" under Rule 55(c)

The District Court correctly found that the Scottons failed to satisfy the meritorious defense needed to establish "good cause" under Rule 55(c). The District Court found that the Scottons' answer amounted to a general denial and that the Scottons had failed to plead any defenses with particularity. (R. 82).

The Scottons' recitation of the meritorious defense requirement in *Dorion v. Keane* omits a key part of the holding. Consistent with this Court's long-standing case law, the Court of Appeals held that to establish a meritorious defense "factual details must be pled with particularity." *Dorion v. Keane*, 153 Idaho 371, 283 P.3d 118 (App. 2012) (citing *Idaho State Police ex rel. Russell v. Parcel I: Lot 2 in Block 3*, 144 Idaho 60, 63, 156 P.3d 561, 546 (2007) and *Bach v. Miller*, 148 Idaho 549, 224 P.3d 1138 (2010) ("a party may not rely on an ordinary pleading to prove a meritorious defense"); *see also Hearst Corp. v. Keller*, 100 Idaho 10, 592 P.2d 66 (1979), *disapproved of on other grounds by Shelton v. Diamond Intern. Corp.*, 108 Idaho 935, 703 P.2d 699 (1985), ("Once a default has been entered the pleading of defensive matter must go beyond the mere notice requirements that would be sufficient if pled before default."). "It would be an idle exercise for the court to set aside a default if there is in fact no real justiciable controversy. The defense matters must be detailed." *Idaho State Police ex rel. Russell v. Parcel I: Lot 2 in Block 3*, 144 Idaho 60, 63, 156 P.3d 561, 546 (2007). "Consequently, where no meritorious defense is shown in support of a motion to set aside a default, a court does not abuse its discretion in denying the motion." *Bach v. Miller*, 148 Idaho 549, 553, 224 P.3d 1138, 1142 (2010).

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